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Federal, State, or local office or decisions concerning the administration of
a political committee.
(j) Donations by foreign nationals to inaugural committees. A foreign national
shall not, directly or indirectly, make
a donation to an inaugural committee,
as defined in 11 CFR 104.21(a)(1). No
person shall knowingly accept from a
foreign national any donation to an inaugural committee.
[67 FR 69950, Nov. 19, 2002, as amended at 69
FR 59780, Oct. 6, 2004]

PART 111—COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE
(52
U.S.C.
30109,
30107(a))
Subpart A—Enforcement
Sec.
111.1 Scope (52 U.S.C. 30109).
111.2 Computation of time.
111.3 Initiation of compliance matters (52
U.S.C. 30109(a)(1), (2)).
111.4 Complaints (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(1)).
111.5 Initial complaint processing; notification (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(1)).
111.6 Opportunity to demonstrate that no
action should be taken on complaint-generated matters (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(1)).
111.7 General Counsel’s recommendation on
complaint-generated matters (52 U.S.C.
30109(a)(1)).
111.8 Internally generated matters; referrals
(52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(2)).
111.9 The reason to believe finding; notification (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(2)).
111.10 Investigation (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(2)).
111.11 Written questions under order (52
U.S.C. 30107(a)(1)).
111.12 Subpoenas and subpoenas duces
tecum; depositions (52 U.S.C. 30107(a)(3),
(4)).
111.13 Service of subpoenas, orders and notifications (52 U.S.C. 30107(a)(3), (4)).
111.14 Witness fees and mileage (52 U.S.C.
30107(a)(5)).
111.15 Motions to quash or modify a subpoena (52 U.S.C. 30107(a)(3), (4)).
111.16 The probable cause to believe recommendation; briefing procedures (52
U.S.C. 30109(a)(3)).
111.17 The probable cause to believe finding;
notification (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(4)).
111.18 Conciliation (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(4)).
111.19 Civil
proceedings
(52
U.S.C.
30109(a)(6)).
111.20 Public disclosure of Commission action (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(4)).
111.21 Confidentiality
(52
U.S.C.
30109(a)(12)).
111.22 Ex parte communications.

111.23 Representation by counsel; notification.
111.24 Civil Penalties (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(5),
(6), (12), 28 U.S.C. 2461 nt.).

Subpart B—Administrative Fines
111.30 When will subpart B apply?
111.31 Does this subpart replace subpart A
of this part for violations of the reporting requirements of 52 U.S.C. 30104(a)?
111.32 How will the Commission notify respondents of a reason to believe finding
and a proposed civil money penalty?
111.33 What are the respondent’s choices
upon receiving the reason to believe finding and the proposed civil money penalty?
111.34 If the respondent decides to pay the
civil money penalty and not to challenge
the reason to believe finding, what
should the respondent do?
111.35 If the respondent decides to challenge
the alleged violation or proposed civil
money penalty, what should the respondent do?
111.36 Who will review the respondent’s
written response?
111.37 What will the Commission do once it
receives the respondent’s written response and the reviewing officer’s recommendation?
111.38 Can the respondent appeal the Commission’s final determination?
111.39 When must the respondent pay the
civil money penalty?
111.40 What happens if the respondent does
not pay the civil money penalty pursuant to 11 CFR 111.34 and does not submit
a written response to the reason to believe finding pursuant to 11 CFR 111.35?
111.41 [Reserved]
111.42 Will the enforcement file be made
available to the public?
111.43 What are the schedules of penalties?
111.44 What is the schedule of penalties for
48-hour notices that are not filed or are
filed late?
111.45 [Reserved]
111.46 How will the respondent be notified of
actions taken by the Commission and the
reviewing officer?

Subpart C—Collection of Debts Arising
From Enforcement and Administration
of Campaign Finance Laws
111.50 Purpose and scope.
111.51 Debts that are covered.
111.52 Administrative collection of claims.
111.53 Litigation by the Commission.
111.54 Bankruptcy claims.
111.55 Interest, penalties, and administrative costs.
AUTHORITY: 52 U.S.C. 30102(i), 30109,
30107(a), 30111(a)(8); 28 U.S.C. 2461 note; 31
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U.S.C. 3701, 3711, 3716–3719, and 3720A, as
amended; 31 CFR parts 285 and 900–904.
SOURCE: 45 FR 15120, Mar. 7, 1980, unless
otherwise noted.

Subpart A—Enforcement
§ 111.1

Scope (52 U.S.C. 30109).

These regulations provide procedures
for processing possible violations of the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971,
as amended (52 U.S.C. 30101, et seq.) and
chapters 95 and 96 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (26 U.S.C. 9001, et seq.
and 9031 et seq.).
[45 FR 15120, Mar. 7, 1980, as amended at 79
FR 77847, Dec. 29, 2014]

§ 111.2

Computation of time.

(a) General rule. In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by
this part, the day of the act, event, or
default from which the designated period of time begins to run shall not be
included. The last day of the period so
computed shall be included, unless it is
a Saturday, a Sunday, or a legal holiday. As used in this section, the term
legal holiday includes New Year’s Day,
President’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Columbus
Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day,
Christmas Day, and any other day appointed as a holiday for employees of
the United States by the President or
the Congress of the United States.
(b) Special rule for periods less than
seven days. When the period of time
prescribed or allowed is less than seven
(7) days, intermediate Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays shall be excluded in the computation.
(c) Special rule for service by mail.
Whenever the Commission or any person has the right or is required to do
some act within a prescribed period
after the service of any paper by or
upon the Commission or such person
and the paper is served by or upon the
Commission or such person by mail,
three (3) days shall be added to the prescribed period.
§ 111.3 Initiation of compliance matters (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(1), (2)).
(a) Compliance matters may be initiated by a complaint or on the basis of
information ascertained by the Com-

mission in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory responsibilities.
(b) Matters initiated by complaint
are subject to the provisions of 11 CFR
111.4 through 111.7. Matters initiated on
the basis of information ascertained by
the Commission in the normal course
of carrying out its supervisory responsibilities are subject to the provisions
of 11 CFR 111.8. All compliance matters
are subject to the provisions of 11 CFR
111.2 and 111.9 through 111.23.
§ 111.4 Complaints
30109(a)(1)).

(52

(a) Any person who believes that a
violation of any statute or regulation
over which the Commission has jurisdiction has occurred or is about to
occur may file a complaint in writing
to the General Counsel of the Federal
Election Commission at the street address identified in the definition of
‘‘Commission’’ in § 1.2. If possible, three
(3) copies should be submitted.
(b) A complaint shall comply with
the following:
(1) It shall provide the full name and
address of the complainant; and
(2) The contents of the complaint
shall be sworn to and signed in the
presence of a notary public and shall be
notarized.
(c) All statements made in a complaint are subject to the statutes governing perjury and to 18 U.S.C. 1001.
The complaint should differentiate between statements based upon personal
knowledge and statements based upon
information and belief.
(d) The complaint should conform to
the following provisions:
(1) It should clearly identify as a respondent each person or entity who is
alleged to have committed a violation;
(2) Statements which are not based
upon personal knowledge should be accompanied by an identification of the
source of information which gives rise
to the complainants belief in the truth
of such statements;
(3) It should contain a clear and concise recitation of the facts which describe a violation of a statute or regulation over which the Commission has
jurisdiction; and
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(4) It should be accompanied by any
documentation supporting the facts alleged if such documentation is known
of, or available to, the complainant.
[45 FR 15120, Mar. 7, 1980, as amended at 50
FR 50778, Dec. 12, 1985; 82 FR 60853, Dec. 26,
2017]

§ 111.5 Initial complaint processing;
notification (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(1)).
(a) Upon receipt of a complaint, the
General Counsel shall review the complaint for substantial compliance with
the technical requirements of 11 CFR
111.4, and, if it complies with those requirements shall within five (5) days
after receipt notify each respondent
that the complaint has been filed, advise them of Commission compliance
procedures, and enclose a copy of the
complaint.
(b) If a complaint does not comply
with the requirements of 11 CFR 111.4,
the General Counsel shall so notify the
complainant and any person(s) or entity(ies) identified therein as respondent(s), within the five (5) day period
specified in 11 CFR 111.5(a), that no action shall be taken on the basis of that
complaint. A copy of the complaint
shall be enclosed with the notification
to each respondent.
§ 111.6 Opportunity to demonstrate
that no action should be taken on
complaint-generated matters (52
U.S.C. 30109 (a)(1)).
(a) A respondent shall be afforded an
opportunity to demonstrate that no action should be taken on the basis of a
complaint by submitting, within fifteen (15) days from receipt of a copy of
the complaint, a letter or memorandum setting forth reasons why the
Commission should take no action.
(b) The Commission shall not take
any action, or make any finding,
against a respondent other than action
dismissing the complaint, unless it has
considered such response or unless no
such response has been served upon the
Commission within the fifteen (15) day
period specified in 11 CFR 111.6(a).

§ 111.7 General
Counsel’s
recommendation on complaint-generated
matters
(52
U.S.C.
30109(a)(1).
(a) Following either the expiration of
the fifteen (15) day period specified by
11 CFR 111.6(a) or the receipt of a response as specified by 11 CFR 111.6(a),
whichever occurs first, the General
Counsel may recommend to the Commission whether or not it should find
reason to believe that a respondent has
committed or is about to commit a violation of statutes or regulations over
which the Commission has jurisdiction.
(b) The General Counsel may recommend that the Commission find that
there is no reason to believe that a violation has been committed or is about
to be committed, or that the Commission otherwise dismiss a complaint
without regard to the provisions of 11
CFR 111.6(a).
§ 111.8 Internally generated matters;
referrals (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(2)).
(a) On the basis of information
ascertained by the Commission in the
normal course of carrying out its supervisory responsibilities, or on the
basis of a referral from an agency of
the United States or of any state, the
General Counsel may recommend in
writing that the Commission find reason to believe that a person or entity
has committed or is about to commit a
violation of statutes or regulations
over which the Commission has jurisdiction.
(b) If the Commission finds reason to
believe that a violation has occurred or
is about to occur the notification to respondent required by 11 CFR 111.9(a)
shall include a copy of a staff report
setting forth the legal basis and the alleged facts which support the Commission’s action.
(c) Prior to taking any action pursuant to this section against any person
who has failed to file a disclosure report required by 11 CFR 104.5(a)(1)(iii)
for the calendar quarter immediately
preceding the election involved or by
§ 104.5(a)(1)(i), the Commission shall notify such person of failure to file the
required reports. If a satisfactory response is not received within four (4)
business days, the Commission shall
publish before the election the name of
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the person and the report or reports
such person has failed to file.
(d) Notwithstanding §§ 111.9 through
111.19, for violations of 52 U.S.C.
30104(a),the Commission, when appropriate, may review internally generated matters under subpart B of this
part.

§ 111.11 Written questions under order
(52 U.S.C. 30107(a)(1)).
The Commission may authorize its
Chairman or Vice Chairman to issue an
order requiring any person to submit
sworn written answers to written questions and may specify a date by which
such answers must be submitted.

[45 FR 15120, Mar. 7, 1980, as amended at 45
FR 21210, Apr. 1, 1980; 65 FR 31794, May 19,
2000; 79 FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014]

§ 111.12 Subpoenas
and
subpoenas
duces tecum; depositions (52 U.S.C.
30107(a)(3), (4)).
(a) The Commission may authorize
its Chairman or Vice Chairman to issue
subpoenas requiring the attendance
and testimony of any person by deposition and to issue subpoenas duces
tecum for the production of documentary or other tangible evidence in connection with a deposition or otherwise.
(b) If oral testimony is ordered to be
taken by deposition or documents are
ordered to be produced, the subpoena
shall so state and shall advise the deponent or person subpoenaed that all testimony will be under oath. A deposition may be taken before any person
having the power to administer oaths.
(c) The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 30(e), shall govern the opportunity to review and sign depositions taken pursuant to this section.

§ 111.9 The reason to believe finding;
notification (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(2)).
(a) If the Commission, either after reviewing a complaint-generated recommendation as described in 11 CFR
111.7 and any response of a respondent
submitted pursuant to 11 CFR 111.6, or
after reviewing an internally-generated
recommendation as described in 11 CFR
111.8, determines by an affirmative
vote of four (4) of its members that it
has reason to believe that a respondent
has violated a statute or regulation
over which the Commission has jurisdiction, its Chairman or Vice Chairman
shall notify such respondent of the
Commission’s finding by letter, setting
forth the sections of the statute or regulations alleged to have been violated
and the alleged factual basis supporting the finding.
(b) If the Commission finds no reason
to believe, or otherwise terminates its
proceedings, the General Counsel shall
so advise both complainant and respondent by letter.
§ 111.10 Investigation (52 U.S.C. 30109
(a)(2)).
(a) An investigation shall be conducted in any case in which the Commission finds reason to believe that a
violation of a statute or regulation
over which the Commission has jurisdiction has occurred or is about to
occur.
(b) In its investigation, the Commission may utilize the provisions of 11
CFR 111.11 through 111.15. The investigation may include, but is not limited to, field investigations, audits, and
other methods of information-gathering.

§ 111.13 Service of subpoenas, orders
and
notifications
(52
U.S.C.
30107(a)(3), (4)).
(a) Service of a subpoena, order or
notification upon a person named
therein shall be made by delivering a
copy to that person in the manner described by 11 CFR 111.13 (b), (c), and (d).
In the case of subpoenas, fees for one
day’s attendance and mileage shall be
tendered as specified in 11 CFR 111.14.
(b) Whenever service is to be made
upon a person who has advised the
Commission of representation by an attorney pursuant to 11 CFR 111.23, the
service shall be made upon the attorney by any of the methods specified in
11 CFR 111.13(c).
(c) Delivery of subpoenas, orders and
notifications to a natural person may
be made by handing a copy to the person, or leaving a copy at his or her office with the person in charge thereof,
by leaving a copy at his or her dwelling
place or usual place of abode with some
person of suitable age and discretion
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residing therein, or by mailing a copy
by registered or certified mail to his or
her last known address, or by any other
method whereby actual notice is given.
(d) When the person to be served is
not a natural person delivery of subpoenas, orders and notifications may
be made by mailing a copy by registered or certified mail to the person
at its place of business or by handing a
copy to a registered agent for service,
or to any officer, director, or agent in
charge of any office of such person, or
by mailing a copy by registered or certified mail to such representative at
his or her last known address, or by
any other method whereby actual notice is given.
§ 111.14 Witness fees and mileage (52
U.S.C. 30107 (a)(5)).
Witnesses subpoenaed to appear for
depositions shall be paid the same fees
and mileage as witnesses in the courts
of the United States. Such fees may be
tendered at the time the witness appears for such deposition, or within a
reasonable time thereafter.
§ 111.15 Motions to quash or modify a
subpoena (52 U.S.C. 30107(a)(3), (4)).
(a) Any person to whom a subpoena is
directed may, prior to the time specified therein for compliance, but in no
event more than 5 days after the date
of receipt of such subpoena, apply to
the Commission to quash or modify
such subpoena, accompanying such application with a brief statement of the
reasons therefor. Motions to quash
shall be filed with the General Counsel
of the Federal Election Commission at
the street address identified in the definition of ‘‘Commission’’ in § 1.2. If possible, three (3) copies should be submitted.
(b) The Commission may deny the application or quash the subpoena or
modify the subpoena.
(c) The person subpoenaed and the
General Counsel may agree to change
the date, time, or place of a deposition
or for the production of documents
without affecting the force and effect
of the subpoena, but such agreements
shall be confirmed in writing.
[45 FR 15120, Mar. 7, 1980, as amended at 50
FR 50778, Dec. 12, 1985; 82 FR 60853, Dec. 26,
2017]

§ 111.16 The probable cause to believe
recommendation; briefing procedures (52 U.S.C. 30109 (a)(3)).
(a) Upon completion of the investigation, the General Counsel shall prepare
a brief setting forth his or her position
on the factual and legal issues of the
case and containing a recommendation
on whether or not the Commission
should find probable cause to believe
that a violation has occurred or is
about to occur.
(b) The General Counsel shall notify
each respondent of the recommendation and enclose a copy of his or her
brief.
(c) Within fifteen (15) days from receipt of the General Counsel’s brief, respondent may file a brief with the
Commission Secretary, Federal Election Commission, at the street address
identified in the definition of ‘‘Commission’’ in § 1.2, setting forth respondent’s position on the factual and legal
issues of the case. If possible, ten (10)
copies of such brief should be filed with
the Commission Secretary and three (3)
copies should be submitted to the General Counsel, Federal Election Commission, at the street address identified in the definition of ‘‘Commission’’
in § 1.2.
(d) After reviewing the respondent’s
brief, the General Counsel shall advise
the Commission in writing whether he
or she intends to proceed with the recommendation or to withdraw the recommendation from Commission consideration.
[45 FR 15120, Mar. 7, 1980, as amended at 50
FR 50778, Dec. 12, 1985; 82 FR 60853, Dec. 26,
2017]

§ 111.17 The probable cause to believe
finding; notification (52 U.S.C.
30109(a)(4)).
(a) If the Commission, after having
found reason to believe and after following the procedures set forth in 11
CFR 111.16, determines by an affirmative vote of four (4) of its members that
there is probable cause to believe that
a respondent has violated a statute or
regulation over which the Commission
has jurisdiction, the Commission shall
authorize the General Counsel to so notify the respondent by letter.
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(b) If the Commission finds no probable cause to believe or otherwise orders a termination of Commission proceedings, it shall authorize the General
Counsel to so notify both respondent
and complainant by letter.
§ 111.18 Conciliation
(52
U.S.C.
30109(a)(4)).
(a) Upon a Commission finding of
probable cause to believe, the Office of
General Counsel shall attempt to correct or prevent the violation by informal methods of conference conciliation
and persuasion, and shall attempt to
reach a tentative conciliation agreement with the respondent.
(b) A conciliation agreement is not
binding upon either party unless and
until it is signed by the respondent and
by the General Counsel upon approval
by the affirmative vote of four (4)
members of the Commission.
(c) If the probable cause to believe
finding is made within forty-five days
prior to any election, such conciliation
attempt shall continue for at least fifteen (15) days from the date of such
finding. In all other cases such attempts by the Commission shall continue for at least thirty (30) days, not
to exceed ninety (90) days.
(d) Nothing in these regulations shall
be construed to prevent the Commission from entering into a conciliation
agreement with a respondent prior to a
Commission finding of probable cause
if a respondent indicates by letter to
the General Counsel a desire to enter
into negotiations directed towards
reaching such a conciliation agreement. However, the Commission is not
required to enter into any negotiations
directed towards reaching a conciliation agreement unless and until it
makes a finding of probable cause to
believe. Any conciliation agreement
reached under this subsection is subject to the provisions of subsection (b)
of this section and shall have the same
force and effect as a conciliation agreement reached after a Commission finding of probable cause to believe.
(e) If a conciliation agreement is
reached between the Commission and
the respondent, the General Counsel
shall send a copy of the signed agreement to both complainant and respondent.

§ 111.19 Civil proceedings (52 U.S.C.
30109(a)(6)).
(a) If no conciliation agreement is finalized within the applicable minimum
period specified by 11 CFR 111.18(c) the
General Counsel may recommend to
the Commission that the Commission
authorize a civil action for relief in an
appropriate court of the United States.
(b) Upon recommendation of the General Counsel, the Commission may, by
an affirmative vote of four (4) of its
members, authorize the General Counsel to commence a civil action for relief in an appropriate court of the
United States.
(c) The provisions of 11 CFR 111.18(c)
shall not preclude the Commission
upon request of a respondent, from entering into a conciliation agreement
even after a recommendation to file a
civil action has been made pursuant to
this section. Any conciliation agreement reached under this subsection is
subject to the provisions of 11 CFR
111.18(b) and shall have the same force
and effect as a conciliation agreement
reached under 11 CFR 111.18(c).
§ 111.20 Public disclosure of Commission action (52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(4)).
(a) If the Commission makes a finding of no reason to believe or no probable cause to believe or otherwise terminates its proceedings, it shall make
public such action and the basis therefor no later than thirty (30) days from
the date on which the required notifications are sent to complainant and respondent.
(b) If a conciliation agreement is finalized, the Commission shall make
public such conciliation agreement
forthwith.
(c) For any compliance matter in
which a civil action is commenced, the
Commission will make public the nonexempt 52 U.S.C. 30109 investigatory
materials in the enforcement and litigation files no later than thirty (30)
days from the date on which the Commission sends the complainant and the
respondent(s) the required notification
of the final disposition of the civil action. The final disposition may consist
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of a judicial decision which is not reviewed by a higher court.
[45 FR 15120, Mar. 7, 1980, as amended at 65
FR 31794, May 19, 2000; 79 FR 77848, Dec. 29,
2014]

§ 111.21 Confidentiality
30109(a)(12)).

(52

U.S.C.

(a) Except as provided in 11 CFR
111.20, no complaint filed with the
Commission, nor any notification sent
by the Commission, nor any investigation conducted by the Commission, nor
any findings made by the Commission
shall be made public by the Commission or by any person or entity without
the written consent of the respondent
with respect to whom the complaint
was filed, the notification sent, the investigation conducted, or the finding
made.
(b) Except as provided in 11 CFR
111.20(b), no action by the Commission
or by any person, and no information
derived in connection with conciliation
efforts pursuant to 11 CFR 111.18, may
be made public by the Commission except upon a written request by respondent and approval thereof by the
Commission.
(c) Nothing in these regulations shall
be construed to prevent the introduction of evidence in the courts of the
United States which could properly be
introduced pursuant to the Federal
Rules of Evidence or Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure.
§ 111.22

Ex parte communications.

(a) In order to avoid the possibility of
prejudice, real or apparent, to the public interest in enforcement actions
pending before the Commission pursuant to 11 CFR part 111, except to the
extent required for the disposition of
ex parte matters as required by law
(for example, during the normal course
of an investigation or a conciliation effort), no interested person outside the
agency shall make or cause to be made
to any Commissioner or any member of
any Commissioner’s staff any ex parte
communication relative to the factual
or legal merits of any enforcement action, nor shall any Commissioner or
member of any Commissioner’s staff
make or entertain any such ex parte
communications.

(b) The prohibition of this regulation
shall apply from the time a complaint
is filed with the Commission pursuant
to 11 CFR part 111 or from the time
that the Commission determines on the
basis of information ascertained in the
normal course of its supervisory responsibilities that it has reason to believe that a violation has occurred or
may occur pursuant to 11 CFR part 111,
and remains in force until the Commission has finally concluded all action
with respect to the enforcement matter
in question.
(c) Nothing in this section shall be
construed to prohibit contact between
a respondent or respondent’s attorney
and any attorney or staff member of
the Office of General Counsel in the
course of representing the Commission
or the respondent with respect to an
enforcement proceeding or civil action.
No statement made by such a Commission attorney or staff member during
any such communication shall bind or
estop the Commission in any way.
§ 111.23 Representation by counsel; notification.
(a) If a respondent wishes to be represented by counsel with regard to any
matter pending before the Commission,
respondent shall so advise the Commission by sending a letter of representation signed by the respondent, which
letter shall state the following:
(1) The name, address, and telephone
number of the counsel;
(2) A statement authorizing such
counsel to receive any and all notifications and other communications from
the Commission on behalf of respondent.
(b) Upon receipt of a letter of representation, the Commission shall have
no contact with respondent except
through the designated counsel unless
authorized in writing by respondent.
§ 111.24 Civil Penalties (52 U.S.C.
30109(a)(5), (6), (12), 28 U.S.C. 2461
nt.).
(a) Except as provided in 11 CFR part
111, subpart B and in paragraph (b) of
this section, a civil penalty negotiated
by the Commission or imposed by a
court for a violation of the Act or
chapters 95 or 96 of title 26 (26 U.S.C.)
shall be as follows:
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(1) Except as provided in paragraph
(a)(2) of this section, in the case of a
violation of the Act or chapters 95 or 96
of title 26 (26 U.S.C.), the civil penalty
shall not exceed the greater of $20,288
or an amount equal to any contribution or expenditure involved in the violation.
(2) Knowing and willful violations. (i)
In the case of a knowing and willful
violation of the Act or chapters 95 or 96
of title 26 (26 U.S.C.), the civil penalty
shall not exceed the greater of $43,280
or an amount equal to 200% of any contribution or expenditure involved in
the violation.
(ii)
Notwithstanding
paragraph
(a)(2)(i) of this section, in the case of a
knowing and willful violation of 52
U.S.C. 30122,the civil penalty shall not
be less than 300% of the amount of any
contribution involved in the violation
and shall not exceed the greater of
$70,973 or 1,000% of the amount of any
contribution involved in the violation.
(b) Any Commission member or employee, or any other person, who in violation of 52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(12)(A) makes
public any notification or investigation under 52 U.S.C. 30109 without receiving the written consent of the person receiving such notification, or the
person with respect to whom such investigation is made, shall be fined not
more than $6,069. Any such member,
employee, or other person who knowingly and willfully violates this provision shall be fined not more than
$15,173.
[62 FR 11317, Mar. 12, 1997; 62 FR 18167, Apr.
14, 1997; 65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000; 67 FR 76977,
Dec. 13, 2002; 70 FR 34635, June 15, 2005; 74 FR
31347, July 1, 2009; 78 FR 44420, July 24, 2013;
79 FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014; 81 FR 41199, June
24, 2016; 82 FR 8987, Feb. 2, 2017; 82 FR 61141,
Dec. 27, 2017; 83 FR 65597, Dec. 27, 2018; 85 FR
47892, Aug. 7, 2020]

Subpart B—Administrative Fines
SOURCE: 65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000, unless
otherwise noted.

§ 111.30 When will subpart B apply?
Subpart B applies to violations of the
reporting requirements of 52 U.S.C.
30104(a) committed by political committees and their treasurers that relate to the reporting periods that begin

on or after July 14, 2000, and that end
on or before the date specified by 52
U.S.C. 30109(a)(4)(C)(v). This subpart,
however, does not apply to reports that
relate to reporting periods that end between January 1, 2014, and January 21,
2014.
[79 FR 3303, Jan. 21, 2014, as amended at 79
FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014]

§ 111.31 Does this subpart replace subpart A of this part for violations of
the reporting requirements of 52
U.S.C. 30104(a)?
(a) No; §§ 111.1 through 111.8 and 111.20
through 111.24 shall apply to all compliance matters. This subpart will
apply, rather than §§ 111.9 through
111.19, when the Commission, on the
basis of information ascertained by the
Commission in the normal course of
carrying out its supervisory responsibilities, and when appropriate, determines that the compliance matter
should be subject to this subpart. If the
Commission determines that the violation should not be subject to this subpart, then the violation will be subject
to all sections of subpart A of this part.
(b) Subpart B will apply to compliance matters resulting from a complaint filed pursuant to 11 CFR 111.4
through 111.7 if the complaint alleges a
violation of 52 U.S.C. 30104(a). If the
complaint alleges violations of any
other provision of any statute or regulation over which the Commission has
jurisdiction, subpart A will apply to
the alleged violations of these other
provisions.
[65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000, as amended at 79
FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014]

§ 111.32 How will the Commission notify respondents of a reason to believe finding and a proposed civil
money penalty?
If the Commission determines, by an
affirmative vote of at least four (4) of
its members, that it has reason to believe that a respondent has violated 52
U.S.C. 30104(a), the Chairman or ViceChairman shall notify such respondent
of the Commission’s finding. The written notification shall set forth the following:
(a) The alleged factual and legal
basis supporting the finding including
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the type of report that was due, the filing deadline, the actual date filed (if
filed), and the number of days the report was late (if filed);
(b) The applicable schedule of penalties;
(c) The number of times the respondent has been assessed a civil money
penalty under this subpart during the
current two-year election cycle and the
prior two-year election cycle;
(d) The amount of the proposed civil
money penalty based on the schedules
of penalties set forth in 11 CFR 111.43
or 111.44; and
(e) An explanation of the respondent’s right to challenge both the reason
to believe finding and the proposed
civil money penalty.
[65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000, as amended at 79
FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014]

§ 111.33 What are the respondent’s
choices upon receiving the reason
to believe finding and the proposed
civil money penalty?
The respondent must either send payment in the amount of the proposed
civil money penalty pursuant to 11
CFR 111.34 or submit a written response pursuant to 11 CFR 111.35.
§ 111.34 If the respondent decides to
pay the civil money penalty and not
to challenge the reason to believe
finding, what should the respondent do?
(a) The respondent shall transmit
payment in the amount of the civil
money penalty to the Commission
within forty (40) days of the Commission’s reason to believe finding.
(b) Upon receipt of the respondent’s
payment, the Commission shall send
the respondent a final determination
that the respondent has violated the
statute or regulations and the amount
of the civil money penalty and an acknowledgment of the respondent’s payment.
§ 111.35 If the respondent decides to
challenge the alleged violation or
proposed civil money penalty, what
should the respondent do?
(a) To challenge a reason to believe
finding or proposed civil money penalty, the respondent must submit a
written response to the Commission

within forty (40) days of the Commission’s reason to believe finding.
(b) The respondent’s written response
must assert at least one of the following grounds for challenging the reason to believe finding or proposed civil
money penalty:
(1) The Commission’s reason to believe finding is based on a factual error
including, but not limited to, the committee was not required to file the report, or the committee timely filed the
report in accordance with 11 CFR
100.19;
(2) The Commission improperly calculated the civil money penalty; or
(3) The respondent used best efforts
to file in a timely manner in that:
(i) The respondent was prevented
from filing in a timely manner by reasonably unforeseen circumstances that
were beyond the control of the respondent; and
(ii) The respondent filed no later
than 24 hours after the end of these circumstances.
(c) Circumstances that will be considered reasonably unforeseen and beyond the control of respondent include,
but are not limited to:
(1) A failure of Commission computers or Commission-provided software despite the respondent seeking
technical assistance from Commission
personnel and resources;
(2) A widespread disruption of information transmissions over the Internet
not caused by any failure of the Commission’s or respondent’s computer
systems or Internet service provider;
and
(3) Severe weather or other disasterrelated incident.
(d) Circumstances that will not be
considered reasonably unforeseen and
beyond the control of respondent include, but are not limited to:
(1) Negligence;
(2) Delays caused by committee vendors or contractors;
(3) Illness, inexperience, or unavailability of the treasurer or other staff;
(4) Committee computer, software or
Internet service provider failures;
(5) A committee’s failure to know filing dates; and
(6) A committee’s failure to use filing
software properly.
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(e) Respondent’s written response
must detail the factual basis supporting its challenge and include supporting documentation.

§ 111.37 What will the Commission do
once it receives the respondent’s
written response and the reviewing
officer’s recommendation?

[72 FR 14667, Mar. 29, 2007]

(a) If the Commission, after having
found reason to believe and after reviewing the respondent’s written response and the reviewing officer’s recommendation, determines by an affirmative vote of at least four (4) of its
members, that the respondent has violated 52 U.S.C. 30104(a) and the amount
of the civil money penalty, the Commission shall authorize the reviewing
officer to notify the respondent by letter of its final determination.
(b) If the Commission, after reviewing the reason to believe finding, the
respondent’s written response, and the
reviewing
officer’s
written
recommendation, determines by an affirmative vote of at least four (4) of its
members, that no violation has occurred (either because the Commission
had based its reason to believe finding
on a factual error or because the respondent used best efforts to file in a
timely manner) or otherwise terminates its proceedings, the Commission
shall authorize the reviewing officer to
notify the respondent by letter of its
final determination.
(c) The Commission will modify the
proposed civil money penalty only if
the respondent is able to demonstrate
that the amount of the proposed civil
money penalty was calculated on an incorrect basis.
(d) When the Commission makes a
final determination under this section,
the statement of reasons for the Commission action will, unless otherwise
indicated by the Commission, consist
of the reasons provided by the reviewing officer for the recommendation, if
approved by the Commission, although
statements setting forth additional or
different reasons may also be issued. If
the reviewing officer’s recommendation is modified or not approved, the
Commission will indicate the grounds
for its action and one or more statements of reasons may be issued.

§ 111.36 Who will review the respondent’s written response?
(a) A reviewing officer shall review
the respondent’s written response. The
reviewing officer shall be a person who
has not been involved in the reason to
believe finding.
(b) The reviewing officer shall review
the reason to believe finding with supporting documentation and the respondent’s written response with supporting documentation. The reviewing
officer may request supplemental information from the respondent and/or
the Commission staff. The respondent
shall submit the supplemental information to the reviewing officer within
a time specified by the reviewing officer. The reviewing officer will be entitled to draw an adverse inference from
the failure by the respondent to submit
the supplemental information.
(c) All documents required to be submitted by the respondents pursuant to
this section and § 111.35 should be submitted in the form of affidavits or declarations.
(d) If the Commission staff, after the
respondent files a written response pursuant to § 111.35, forwards any additional documents pertaining to the
matter to the reviewing officer for his
or her examination, the reviewing officer shall also furnish a copy of the document(s) to the respondents.
(e) Upon completion of the review,
the reviewing officer shall forward a
written recommendation to the Commission along with all documents required under this section and 11 CFR
111.32 and 111.35.
(f) The reviewing office shall also forward a copy of the recommendation to
the respondent. The respondent may
file with the Commission Secretary a
written response to the recommendation within ten (10) days of transmittal
of the recommendation. This response
may not raise any arguments not
raised in the respondent’s original
written response or not directly responsive to the reviewing officer’s recommendation.

[65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000, as amended at 72
FR 14668, Mar. 29, 2007; 79 FR 77848, Dec. 29,
2014]
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§ 111.38 Can the respondent appeal the
Commission’s final determination?
Yes; within thirty (30) days of receipt
of the Commission’s final determination under 11 CFR 111.37, the respondent may submit a written petition to
the district court of the United States
for the district in which the respondent
resides, or transacts business, requesting that the final determination be
modified or set aside. The respondent’s
failure to raise an argument in a timely fashion during the administrative
process shall be deemed a waiver of the
respondent’s right to present such argument in a petition to the district
court under 52 U.S.C. 30109.
[65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000, as amended at 79
FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014]

§ 111.39 When must the respondent
pay the civil money penalty?
(a) If the respondent does not submit
a written petition to the district court
of the United States, the respondent
must remit payment of the civil money
penalty within thirty (30) days of receipt of the Commission’s final determination under 11 CFR 111.37.
(b) If the respondent submits a written petition to the district court of the
United States and, upon the final disposition of the civil action, is required
to pay a civil money penalty, the respondent shall remit payment of the
civil money penalty to the Commission
within thirty (30) days of the final disposition of the civil action. The final
disposition may consist of a judicial
decision which is not reviewed by a
higher court.
(c) Failure to pay the civil money
penalty may result in the commencement of collection action under 31
U.S.C. 3701 et seq. (1996), or a civil suit
pursuant to 52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(6)(A), or
any other legal action deemed necessary by the Commission.
[65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000, as amended at 79
FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014]

§ 111.40 What happens if the respondent does not pay the civil money
penalty pursuant to 11 CFR 111.34
and does not submit a written response to the reason to believe finding pursuant to 11 CFR 111.35?
(a) If the Commission, after the respondent has failed to pay the civil
money penalty and has failed to submit
a written response, determines by an
affirmative vote of at least four (4) of
its members that the respondent has
violated 52 U.S.C. 30104(a) and determines the amount of the civil money
penalty, the respondent shall be notified by letter of its final determination.
(b) The respondent shall transmit
payment of the civil money penalty to
the Commission within thirty (30) days
of receipt of the Commission’s final determination.
(c) Failure to pay the civil money
penalty may result in the commencement of collection action under 31
U.S.C. 3701 et seq. (1996), or a civil suit
pursuant to 52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(6)(A), or
any other legal action deemed necessary by the Commission.
[65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000, as amended at 79
FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014]

§ 111.41

[Reserved]

§ 111.42 Will the enforcement file be
made available to the public?
(a) Yes; the Commission shall make
the enforcement file available to the
public.
(b) If neither the Commission nor the
respondent commences a civil action,
the Commission shall make the enforcement file available to the public
pursuant to 11 CFR 4.4(a)(3).
(c) If a civil action is commenced, the
Commission shall make the enforcement file available pursuant to 11 CFR
111.20(c).
§ 111.43 What are the schedules of penalties?
(a) The civil money penalty for all
reports that are filed late or not filed,
except election sensitive reports and
pre-election reports under 11 CFR 104.5,
shall be calculated in accordance with
the following schedule of penalties:
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TABLE 1 TO PARAGRAPH (a)
If the level of activity in
the report was:

And the report was filed late, the civil money
penalty is:

Or the report was not filed, the civil money penalty is:

$1–4,999.99 a ..................

[$36 + ($6 × Number of days late)] × [1 + (.25 ×
Number of previous violations)].
[$69 + ($6 × Number of days late)] × [1 + (.25 ×
Number of previous violations)].
[$149 + ($6 × Number of days late)] × [1 + (.25 ×
Number of previous violations)].
[$295 + ($28 × Number of days late)] × [1 + (.25
× Number of previous violations)].
[$445 + ($112 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$591 + ($149 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$886 + ($185 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$1,185 + ($221 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$1,479 + ($258 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$2,219 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$2,959 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$3,697 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$4,437 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$5,176 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$5,916 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$6,656 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$7,395 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].

$347 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$417 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$696 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$1,252 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$3,994 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$5,176 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$6,656 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$8,135 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$9,613 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$11,832 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$13,311 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$14,050 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$14,791 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$15,529 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$16,269 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$17,008 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$17,748 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].

$5,000–9,999.99 .............
$10,000–24,999.99 .........
$25,000–49,999.99 .........
$50,000–74,999.99 .........
$75,000–99,999.99 .........
$100,000–149,999.99 .....
$150,000–199,999.99 .....
$200,000–249,999.99 .....
$250,000–349,999.99 .....
$350,000–449,999.99 .....
$450,000–549,999.99 .....
$550,000–649,999.99 .....
$650,000–749,999.99 .....
$750,000–849,999.99 .....
$850,000–949,999.99 .....
$950,000 or over .............

violaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviolaviola-

a The civil money penalty for a respondent who does not have any previous violations will not exceed the level of activity in the
report.

(b) The civil money penalty for election sensitive reports that are filed
late or not filed shall be calculated in

accordance with the following schedule
of penalties:

TABLE 2 TO PARAGRAPH (b)
If the level of activity in
the report was:

And the report was filed late, the civil money
penalty is:

Or the report was not filed, the civil money penalty is:

$1–$4,999.99 a ................

[$69 + ($13 × Number of days late)] × [1 + (.25 ×
Number of previous violations)].
[$139 + ($13 × Number of days late)] × [1 + (.25
× Number of previous violations)].
[$209 + ($13 × Number of days late)] × [1 + (.25
× Number of previous violations)].
[$445 + ($36 × Number of days late)] × [1 + (.25
× Number of previous violations)].
[$666 + ($112 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$886 + ($149 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$1,331 + ($185 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$1,775 + ($221 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$2,219 + ($258 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$3,328 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$4,437 + ($295 × Number of days late)] × [1 +
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].

$696 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$834 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$1,252 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$1,947 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$4,437 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$5,916 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$7,395 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$8,873 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$11,093 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$13,311 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].
$14,791 × [1 + (.25 × Number of previous
tions)].

$5,000–$9,999.99 ...........
$10,000–24,999.99 .........
$25,000–49,999.99 .........
$50,000–74,999.99 .........
$75,000–99,999.99 .........
$100,000–149,999.99 .....
$150,000–199,999.99 .....
$200,000–249,999.99 .....
$250,000–349,999.99 .....
$350,000–449,999.99 .....
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TABLE 2 TO PARAGRAPH (b)—Continued

If the level of activity in
the report was:

And the report was filed late, the civil money
penalty is:

$450,000–549,999.99 .....

[$5,546 + ($295 × Number of days late)] ×
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$6,656 + ($295 × Number of days late)] ×
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$7,765 + ($295 × Number of days late)] ×
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$8,873 + ($295 × Number of days late)] ×
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$9,983 + ($295 × Number of days late)] ×
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].
[$11,093 + ($295 × Number of days late)] ×
(.25 × Number of previous violations)].

$550,000–649,999.99 .....
$650,000–749,999.99 .....
$750,000–849,999.99 .....
$850,000–949,999.99 .....
$950,000 or over .............

Or the report was not filed, the civil money penalty is:
[1 +
[1 +
[1 +
[1 +
[1 +
[1 +

$16,269 ×
tions)].
$17,748 ×
tions)].
$19,228 ×
tions)].
$20,706 ×
tions)].
$22,184 ×
tions)].
$23,664 ×
tions)].

[1 + (.25 × Number of previous viola[1 + (.25 × Number of previous viola[1 + (.25 × Number of previous viola[1 + (.25 × Number of previous viola[1 + (.25 × Number of previous viola[1 + (.25 × Number of previous viola-

a The civil money penalty for a respondent who does not have any previous violations will not exceed the level of activity in the
report.

(c) If the respondent fails to file a required report and the Commission cannot calculate the level of activity
under paragraph (d) of this section,
then the civil money penalty shall be
$8,135.
(d) Definitions. For this section only,
the following definitions will apply:
(1) Election Sensitive Reports means
third quarter reports due on October
15th before the general election (for all
committees required to file this report
except committees of candidates who
do not participate in that general election); monthly reports due October
20th before the general election (for all
committees required to file this report
except committees of candidates who
do not participate in that general election); and pre-election reports for primary, general, and special elections
under 11 CFR 104.5.
(2) Estimated level of activity means:
(i) For an authorized committee,
total receipts and disbursements reported in the current two-year election
cycle divided by the number of reports
filed to date covering the activity in
the current two-year election cycle. If
the respondent has not filed a report
covering activity in the current twoyear election cycle, estimated level of
activity for an authorized committee
means total receipts and disbursements
reported in the prior two-year election
cycle divided by the number of reports
filed covering the activity in the prior
two-year election cycle.
(ii)(A) For an unauthorized committee, estimated level of activity is
calculated as follows: [(Total receipts
and disbursements reported in the cur-

rent two-year cycle)—(Transfers received from non-Federal account(s) as
reported on Line 18(a) of FEC Form 3X
Disbursements for the non-Federal
share of operating expenditures attributable to allocated Federal/non-Federal activity as reported on Line
21(a)(ii) of FEC Form 3X)] ÷ Number of
reports filed to date covering the activity in the current two-year election
cycle.
(B) If the unauthorized committee
has not filed a report covering activity
in the current two-year election cycle,
the estimated level of activity is calculated as follows: [(Total receipts and
disbursements reported in the prior
two-year election cycle)—(Transfers received from non-Federal account(s) as
reported on Line 18(a) of FEC Form 3X
Disbursements for the non-Federal
share of operating expenditures attributable to allocated Federal/non-Federal activity as reported on Line
21(a)(ii) of FEC Form 3X)] ÷ Number of
reports filed covering the activity in
the prior two-year election cycle.
(3) Level of activity means:
(i) For an authorized committee, the
total amount of receipts and disbursements for the period covered by the
late report. If the report is not filed,
the level of activity is the estimated
level of activity as set forth in paragraph (d)(2)(i) of this section.
(ii) For an unauthorized committee,
the total amount of receipts and disbursements for the period covered by
the late report minus the total of:
Transfers received from non-Federal
account(s) as reported on Line 18(a) of
FEC Form 3X and disbursements for
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the non-Federal share of operating expenditures attributable to allocated
Federal/non-Federal activity as reported on Line 21(a)(ii) of FEC Form 3X
for the period covered by the late report. If the report is not filed, the level
of activity is the estimated level of activity as set forth in paragraph
(d)(2)(ii) of this section.
(4) Number of previous violations means
all prior final civil money penalties assessed under this subpart during the
current two-year election cycle and the
prior two-year election cycle.
(e) For purposes of the schedules of
penalties in paragraphs (a) and (b) of
this section,
(1) Reports that are not election sensitive reports are considered to be filed
late if they are filed after their due
dates but within thirty (30) days of
their due dates. These reports are considered to be not filed if they are filed
after thirty (30) days of their due dates
or not filed at all.
(2) Election sensitive reports are considered to be filed late if they are filed
after their due dates but prior to four
(4) days before the primary election for
pre-primary reports, prior to four (4)
days before the special election for prespecial election reports, or prior to
four (4) days before the general election for all other election sensitive reports. These reports are considered to
be not filed if they are not filed prior
to four (4) days before the primary
election for pre-primary reports, prior
to four (4) days before the special election for pre-special election reports or
prior to four (4) days before the general
election for all other election sensitive
reports.
[65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000, as amended at 68
FR 12577, Mar. 17, 2003; 70 FR 34636, June 15,
2005; 74 FR 31348, July 1, 2009; 74 FR 37161,
July 28, 2009; 78 FR 44421, July 24, 2013; 81 FR
41199, June 24, 2016; 82 FR 8987, Feb. 2, 2017; 82
FR 61141, Dec. 27, 2017; 83 FR 66597, Dec. 27,
2018; 85 FR 47892, Aug. 7, 2020]

the civil money penalty will be calculated as follows:
(1) Civil money penalty = $149 + (.10 ×
amount of the contribution(s) not
timely reported).
(2) The civil money penalty calculated in paragraph (a)(1) of this section shall be increased by twenty-five
percent (25%) for each prior violation.
(b) For purposes of this section, prior
violation means a final civil money
penalty that has been assessed against
the respondent under this subpart in
the current two-year election cycle or
the prior two-year election cycle.
[65 FR 31794, May 19, 2000, as amended at 70
FR 34636, June 15, 2005; 74 FR 31349, July 1,
2009; 79 FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014; 81 FR 41200,
June 24, 2016; 82 FR 8989, Feb. 2, 2017; 82 FR
61143, Dec. 27, 2017; 83 FR 66599, Dec. 27, 2018;
85 FR 47894, Aug. 7, 2020]

§ 111.45

[Reserved]

§ 111.46 How will the respondent be
notified of actions taken by the
Commission and the reviewing officer?
If a statement designating counsel
has been filed in accordance with 11
CFR 111.23, all notifications and other
communications to a respondent provided for in subpart B of this part will
be sent to designated counsel. If a
statement designating counsel has not
been filed, all notifications and other
communications to a respondent provided for in subpart B of this part will
be sent to respondent political committee and its treasurer at the political committee’s address as listed in
the most recent Statement of Organization, or amendment thereto, filed
with the Commission in accordance
with 11 CFR 102.2.
[68 FR 12580, Mar. 17, 2003]

Subpart C—Collection of Debts
Arising From Enforcement and
Administration of Campaign
Finance Laws

§ 111.44 What is the schedule of penalties for 48-hour notices that are
not filed or are filed late?

SOURCE: 75 FR 19876, Apr. 16, 2010, unless
otherwise noted.

(a) If the respondent fails to file
timely a notice regarding contribution(s) received after the 20th day but
more than 48 hours before the election
as required under 52 U.S.C. 30104(a)(6),

§ 111.50 Purpose and scope.
Subpart C prescribes standards and
procedures under which the Commission will collect and dispose of certain
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debts owed to the United States, as described in 11 CFR 111.51. The regulations in this subpart implement the
Debt Collection Improvement Act of
1996, 31 U.S.C. 3701, 3711, and 3716–3720A,
as amended; and the Federal Claims
Collection Standards, 31 CFR parts 900–
904. The activities covered include: The
collection of claims of any amount;
compromising claims; suspending or
terminating the collection of claims;
and referring debts to the U.S. Department of the Treasury for collection action.
§ 111.51

Debts that are covered.

(a) The procedures of this subpart C
of part 111 apply to claims for payment
or debt arising from, or ancillary to,
any action undertaken by or on behalf
of the Commission in furtherance of efforts to ensure compliance with the
Federal Election Campaign Act, 52
U.S.C. 30101 et seq., as amended, and to
administer the Presidential Election
Campaign Fund Act, 26 U.S.C. 9001 et
seq., or the Presidential Primary
Matching Payment Account Act, 26
U.S.C. 9031 et seq., and Commission regulations, including:
(1) Negotiated civil penalties in enforcement matters and alternative dispute resolution matters;
(2) Civil money penalties assessed
under the administrative fines program;
(3) Claims reduced to judgment in the
courts and that are no longer in litigation;
(4) Repayments of public funds under
the Presidential Election Campaign
Fund Act, 26 U.S.C. 9001 et seq.; or
(5) Repayment of public funds under
the Presidential Primary Matching
Payment Account Act, 26 U.S.C. 9031 et
seq.
(b) The procedures covered by this
subpart do not apply to any of the following debts:
(1) Debts that result from administrative activities of the Commission
that are governed by 11 CFR part 8.
(2) Debts involving criminal actions
of fraud, the presentation of a false
claim, or misrepresentation on the part
of the debtor or any other person having an interest in the claim.

(3) Debts based in whole or in part on
conduct in violation of the antitrust
laws.
(4) Debts under the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986.
(5) Debts between the Commission
and another Federal agency. The Commission will attempt to resolve interagency claims by negotiation in accordance with Executive Order 12146, 3
CFR pp. 409–12 (1980 Comp.).
(6) Debts that have become subject to
salary offset under 5 U.S.C. 5514.
[75 FR 19876, Apr. 16, 2010, as amended at 79
FR 16663, Mar. 26, 2014; 79 FR 77848, Dec. 29,
2014]

§ 111.52 Administrative
claims.

collection

(a) The Commission shall act to collect all claims or debts. These collection activities will be undertaken
promptly and follow up action will be
taken as appropriate in accordance
with 31 CFR 901.1.
(b) The Commission may take any
and all appropriate collection actions
authorized and required by the Debt
Collection Act of 1982, as amended by
the Debt Collection Improvement Act
of 1996, 31 U.S.C. 3701 et seq. The U.S.
Department of the Treasury regulations at 31 CFR 285.2, 285.4, 285.7, and
285.11, and the Federal Claims Collection Standards issued jointly by the
Department of Justice and the U.S. Department of the Treasury at 31 CFR
parts 900–904, also apply. The Commission has adopted these regulations by
cross-reference.
(c) The Commission will refer to the
Dept. of Treasury all debt that has
been delinquent for more than 180 days,
and may refer to the Dept. of Treasury
any debt that has been delinquent for
180 days or less. On behalf of the Commission, the U.S. Department of the
Treasury will attempt to collect the
debt, in accordance with the statutory
and regulatory requirements and authorities applicable to the debt and action. This may include referral to another debt collection center, or a private collection contractor. See 31 CFR
285.12 (Transfer of debts to Treasury for
collection). This requirement does not
apply to any debt that:
(1) Is in litigation or foreclosure;
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(2) Will be disposed of under an approved asset sale program;
(3) Has been referred to a private collection contractor for a period of time
acceptable to the U.S. Department of
the Treasury; or
(4) Will be collected under internal
offset procedures within three years
after the debt first became delinquent.
(d) The U.S. Department of the
Treasury is authorized to charge a fee
for services rendered regarding referred
or transferred debts. The Commission
will add the fee to the debt as an administrative cost, in accordance with
11 CFR 111.55.
§ 111.53 Litigation by the Commission.
Nothing in this subpart C precludes
the Commission from filing suit in the
appropriate court to enforce compliance with a conciliation agreement
under 52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(5)(D), seek a
civil money penalty under 52 U.S.C.
30109(a)(6), petition the court for a contempt order under 52 U.S.C. 30109(a)(11),
or otherwise exercise its authority to
enforce or administer the statutes
specified in 11 CFR 111.51(a).

(1) Determines that collection is
against equity and good conscience or
not in the best interest of the United
States, including when an administrative offset or installment agreement is
in effect; or
(2) Determines that waiver is appropriate under the criteria for compromise of debts set forth at 31 CFR
902.2(a).
(d) The Commission is authorized to
impose interest and related charges on
debts not subject to 31 U.S.C. 3717, in
accordance with common law.

PART 112—ADVISORY OPINIONS
(52 U.S.C. 30108)
Sec.
112.1 Requests for advisory opinions (52
U.S.C. 30108(a)(1)).
112.2 Public availability of requests (52
U.S.C. 30108(d)).
112.3 Written comments on requests (52
U.S.C. 30108(d)).
112.4 Issuance of advisory opinions (52
U.S.C. 30108(a) and (b)).
112.5 Reliance on advisory opinions (52
U.S.C. 30108(c)).
112.6 Reconsideration of advisory opinions.

[75 FR 19876, Apr. 16, 2010, as amended at 79
FR 77848, Dec. 29, 2014]

§ 111.54 Bankruptcy claims.
When the Commission learns that a
bankruptcy petition has been filed by a
debtor, before proceeding with further
collection action, the Commission will
take any necessary action in accordance with the provision of 31 CFR
901.2(h).
§ 111.55 Interest, penalties, and administrative costs.
(a) The Commission shall assess interest, penalties, and administrative
costs on debts owed to the United
States Government, pursuant to 31
U.S.C. 3717. Interest, penalties, and administrative costs will be assessed in
accordance with 31 CFR 901.9.
(b) The Commission shall waive collection of interest and administrative
costs on a debt or any portion of the
debt that is paid within thirty days
after the date on which the interest begins to accrue.
(c) The Commission may waive collection of interest, penalties, and administrative costs if it:

AUTHORITY: 52 U.S.C. 30108, 30111(a)(8).
SOURCE: 45 FR 15123, Mar. 7, 1980, unless
otherwise noted.

§ 112.1 Requests for advisory opinions
(52 U.S.C. 30108(a)(1)).
(a) Any person may request in writing an advisory opinion concerning the
application of the Act, chapters 95 or 96
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, or
any regulation prescribed by the Commission. An authorized agent of the requesting person may submit the advisory opinion request, but the agent
shall disclose the identity of his or her
principal.
(b) The written advisory opinion request shall set forth a specific transaction or activity that the requesting
person plans to undertake or is presently undertaking and intends to undertake in the future. Requests presenting a general question of interpretation, or posing a hypothetical situation, or regarding the activities of
third parties, do not qualify as advisory opinion requests.
(c) Advisory opinion requests shall
include a complete description of all
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